
Community Bank • Upwey
30 Main Street,
Upwey VIC 3158
Phone: 9754 1200 Fax: 9754 1244
Email: upweymailbox@bendigobank.com.au
Web: bendigobank.com.au/Upwey

Community Bank • Belgrave
1656 Burwood Highway,
Belgrave VIC 3160
Phone: 9752 6606 Fax: 9752 6690
Email: belgravemailbox@bendigoadelaide.com.au
Web: bendigobank.com.au/Belgrave

Community Bank • Cockatoo-Gembrook
Shop 3, 50 McBride Street,
Cockatoo VIC 3781
Phone: 5968 8831 Fax: 5968 8806
Email: cockatoo-gembrookmailbox@bendigoadelaide.com.au
Web: bendigobank.com.au/Cockatoo-Gembrook

Franchisee: Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN: 28 084 480 035
30 Main Street, Upwey Vic 3158
Phone: 9754 1200  Fax: 9754 1244
Email: admin@drcbg.com.au

Share Registry:
Contact the Company Executive Officer
30 Main Street, Upwey Vic 3158
Phone: 9754 1200 Fax: 9754 1244
Email: admin@drcbg.com.au

/DRCBG

/bendigocb_dandenongranges 

Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited ABN 11 068 049 178, AFSL/Australian Credit Licence 237879 A1429506 OUT_1520435  22/09/2020

Annual
Report
2020
Dandenong Ranges
Community Finance Limited

Community Bank  
Upwey, Belgrave and 
Cockatoo-Gembrook
ABN 28 084 480 035



Annual Report Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited 1

Chairman’s report 2

Senior Group Manager’s report 4

Secretary’s report 5

Directors’ report 6

Auditor’s independence declaration 9

Financial statements 10

Notes to the financial statements 14

Directors’ declaration 45

Independent audit report 46

Contents



2 Annual Report Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited

For year ending 30 June 2020

What a year it has been. We began the year with record low interest rates and ended the year with interest rates 
even lower. During the 12 months to June 2020 the Reserve Bank reduced the cash rate on four occasions by  
0.25% each time, bringing the cash rate down to 0.25%. These reductions in the cash rate have had a serious 
adverse impact upon our margin income.

Over the last 12 months our funds under management, total lending and deposits, increased by $13 million however 
our revenue reduced by approximately $110,000 or 3.34%. We wrote approximately $50 million in new loans but 
because of the low interest rate on deposits, many customers paid down or paid out the loans.

Even with this reduction in revenue, the company was able to deliver a profit before charitable donations and 
sponsorships of $836,682 compared with $866,607 for the 2018/19 financial year. This is a reduction of $29,925  
or 3.45%.

The next 12 months will again be difficult for the company as the full impact of the 0.5% interest rate reductions in 
March 2020 take effect on our income.

In addition to the financial impact of the lower margins, we have all been dealing with the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic for the last six months of the financial year. This has been uncharted waters for all of us, but as a 
community we will continue to assist each other and work our way through these most difficult times. During 
this time, our staff have been magnificent by continuing to be on site and providing their excellent service to the 
customers who still need to attend our branches. To our customers – we are there to assist.

Our community support initiatives

During the last 12 months we have been able to continue to support our communities through our sponsorships 
and donations programs. These programs are there to support those organisations within the community who 
provide valuable services and opportunities to the community members. There is also an expectation that these 
organisations promote our branches to their members, officials, etc. for their banking. This is the ‘win - win’ scenario 
that allows us to provide the donations and sponsorships to these organisations.

We have made donations and sponsorship payments of $372,736 during the last 12 months and our total payments 
back to the community in sponsorships, grants, dividends, and pledges to major projects since 1998 is now almost 
$5.5 million.

Our staff and management team

As I have said in the past, our staff are our greatest asset and we are grateful for their commitment and 
contribution to the business. During these most difficult and trying times they have continued to provide our 
customers with the excellent service they have learnt to expect from our branches.

Our Management team of Abigael Jamieson at Upwey, Teresa Spruhan at Belgrave, Bruce McConnell at 
Cockatoo-Gembrook, all ably lead by our Senior Group Manager Mike Fleming have continued to produce 
excellent results for the company.

During the year, the Board were delighted to appoint Mick Spruhan as our Senior Business Development Manager. 
Mick is a local, living in Belgrave for many years, and has many years’ experience with the Community Bank 
model. One of Mick’s many roles is to develop new business through the many organisations and clubs we have 
supported for many years.

Chairman’s report
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Melisa Hepworth, our Executive Officer, once again has provided excellent assistance to me, the Board and to the 
staff during the last year, with her ability to organise and coordinate efficiently and professionally. Also, thanks to 
Suzan Prass, our Community Liaison Officer, who continues to provide great assistance to the company.

To all staff and Managers, we thank you for your contribution during the last 12 months.

Our Board

Once again, our Board have given up their time to volunteer as Directors of the Dandenong Ranges Community 
Finance Limited. This year has been particularly difficult, but the Board have been able to meet at short notice 
on occasion and resolve any issues that have arisen, in a balanced, logical way. Added to this the Board have 
had to hold virtual meetings, via various digital channels because of the COVID-19 pandemic, which at times has 
necessitated a sharp learning curve for us all.

To all the members of the Board, thank you.

Your investment

The Board has agreed to maintain a fully franked dividend of 10 cents per share to be paid out in December 2020.

On behalf of the Board, I thank you for your ongoing support.

John Waters AAICD 
Chairman

Chairman’s report (continued)
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For year ending 30 June 2020

All budgets were set for what was expected to be another normal year of growth albeit with much lower interest 
rates.

We never expected to see our branches limiting the number of customers entering to two people. Nor did we 
foresee additional screens popping up in the branch and staff wearing masks instead of the bandits.

However, despite all the upheaval, the Group has grown funds under management by $13 million for the year and 
this was done in an era of record low rates.

Deposit funds grew by $12 million which confirms that our clients want to support us rather than ‘shop around’.

The loan book grew by $1 million net although loan approvals for the year were $50 million. Many customers chose 
to paydown/payout loans instead of leaving their savings in low rate accounts. There was also a large number of 
Bridging Finance approvals (short term lending) processed.

Total number of accounts held now is 19,230 with the bulk being at Upwey – 10,633 with Belgrave and Cockatoo 
4,565 and 4,032 respectively.

In January we appointed Mick Spruhan as our Senior Business Development Manager to groom him to eventually 
take over my role. Succession planning plays a big part in the continuing success of our three branches. With 
Mick’s experience of 20 years in the Community Bank model as well as 22 years at another banking institution, he 
was too good an opportunity to miss out on.

All three branches had a successful year despite reduced margins caused by low interest rates.

Cockatoo-Gembrook continued their previous years improvement performing well above budget thanks to some 
good lending by Bruce.

Teresa took over the Branch Manager’s role at Belgrave and has helped the branch grow.

Upwey, under Abi’s watch – with Mel’s assistance, had loan approvals of $35 million – another good effort in a 
difficult year.

Staff numbers have remained stable with no change in actual numbers which will remain for some time.

As usual, we are backed up by the Board who give us every assistance to grow the business. Thanks to John and 
all the Board members.

Mike Fleming 
Senior Group Manager

Senior Group Manager’s report



Annual Report Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited 5

For year ending 30 June 2020

Financial result

The Group reported a net profit before tax, sponsorships and grants of $836,682 for the year ended 30 June 2020, 
compared to $866,607 in the previous year. Community Bank Upwey has continued to show profits before tax, 
sponsorships and grants. The net loss for Community Bank Belgrave has decreased significantly during the current 
financial year. Community Bank Cockatoo-Gembrook has improved its results over the previous year and is now 
trading profitably.

The Group reported a net profit after tax of $351,953 (2019: net profit of $504,949). This is due to the increase of 
$205,838 in charitable grants and sponsorship over the previous year and the reduced tax expense for the year.

Financial position

The financial position of the Group continues to remain strong with total assets of $4.706 million (2019: $3.914 million) 
and total liabilities of $800,248 (2019: $431,891) resulting in a net equity position of $3.905 million on 30 June 2020 
(2019: $3.482 million).

The cash balances and financial assets on 30 June 2020 amounted to $2.999 million (2019: $2.953 million).

Managers and staff

Our Senior Manager, Mike Fleming, continued his role in overseeing and assisting Branch Managers and growing 
the business of the Group. We thank Mike Fleming, Mick Spruhan, the Branch Managers and all the staff for their 
excellent performance at Community Bank Upwey, Belgrave and Cockatoo-Gembrook.

Dividends

The Board recommended a fully franked dividend of 10 cents per share that was paid out during the year. A fully 
franked dividend of 10 cents per share is to be paid in December 2020.

Shareholder information

The administration of the share registry is being managed by Melisa Hepworth, our Executive Officer, who we 
thank for her outstanding contribution. All shareholders are advised that they must inform Melisa of a change of 
address to ensure that all correspondence and dividend payments are received by them. Also, all shareholders 
receiving their dividends by direct credit must please ensure that Melisa is informed of any changes to their 
banking details. Melisa can be contacted on 9754 6540 or 0400 110 385.

Naren Popat 
B.Acc, CA, MTax

Secretary’s report
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Text here

Directors’ report
Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited

ABN 28 084 480 035
Directors' report

Directors  
 

Directors were in office for this entire year unless otherwise stated.

No Directors have material interests in contracts or proposed contracts with the company.

Deborah Jayne Weber Deputy Chairperson; Committee Chair Human Resources Committee and member of the Audit & 
Governance Committee. Chartered Accountant, worked in public practice for nearly 25 years as an 
employee and as a sole practitioner.

Karel Leslie Coxhill Member of Audit & Governance Committee and Business Development Committee. Licenced Real Estate 
Agent. Past real estate agent for 30 years, now retired; Past Lions Club Member for 8 years which involved 
volunteer work;  Past Councillor for Shire of Sherbrooke for 3 years.

John Ronald Faull Certificate 3 in Aged Care; Horticulturalist. 50 years' experience in CFA as a volunteer; 19 years' experience 
in Aged Care and Manager of Management Company operating Rhodoglades Retirement Village; Owner 
and Manager of Cut Flower Farm.

Shane Andrew Miller Committee Chair - Business Development Committee.

Leslie Thomas Stevenson Committee Chair - Audit & Governance Committee, Committee member of Human Resources Committee. B 
Eco FCA. Semi retired Chartered Accountant, 30 years Accounting, 24 years as a sole practitioner in a tax 
practice.

Jacqueline Nicole Buckland 

The Directors present their report of the company for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 

The following persons were Directors of Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited during or since the end of the financial year up to 
the date of this report:

Directors Details

Chairman, Member of Human Resources and Audit & Governance Committees. AAICD, Int. Dip. AML. 
Experience and expertise: Director for 5 years, 40 years' experience in Financial Services industry.

John Spencer Waters -  
Chairman

Certificate in Small Business Practices; Bachelor Business (Human Resource Management/Arts 
(Phycology)(2yrs); Bachelor of Education (2 yrs); Management of small-mid size tourism and hospitality 
business incorporating Human Resources, Marketing, Communications, Events, founding member of 
startup not for profit group EPIC; GIA Board Governance Training.

Helena Ella Eva Fern 
(Resigned 24 Oct 2019)

Bachelor of Fine Arts; Post Graduate Certificate in Marketing (Consumer Behavior, International Marketing, 
Strategic Marketing & Market Research); General Assembly Course in Digital Marketing.
10 years’ experience working in Higher Education (UK and Australia); Six years working in marketing and 
communication; Seven years leading teams – hiring, development, strategy, four years working in 
environmental sustainability practices; seven years working across entrepreneurship and start-up including 
disruptive technologies, social enterprise, dep technology(space, Al Data and robotics) and consumer 
products; one year owning a small business. 

1

Experience and expertise: Company Director, over 40 years’ experience in Financial Services industry.
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Directors’ report (continued)
Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited

ABN 28 084 480 035
Directors' report

Directors' meetings

A B A B
13 12 4 2
13 12 4 4
13 11 4 4
13 12 N/A N/A
13 13 N/A N/A
13 12 4 4
13 10 N/A N/A
3 1 N/A N/A

A - The number of meetings eligible to attend.
B - The number of meetings attended.
N/A - not a member of that committee.

Company Secretary

Principal activities

There has been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the year.

Review of operations

New Accounting Standards Implemented

COVID-19 Impact on Operations

Director
John Spencer Waters -  Chairman
Deborah Jayne Weber
Karel Leslie Coxhill
John Ronald Faull
Shane Andrew Miller
Leslie Thomas Stevenson
Jacqueline Nicole Buckland 
Helena Ella Eva Fern (Resigned 24 Oct 2019)

Attendances by each Director during the year were as follows:

The principal activities of the company during the course of the financial year were in providing Community Bank branch services under 
management rights to operate a franchised branch of Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited.

The profit of the company for the financial year after provision for income tax was $645,637 (2019 profit: $504,949), which is a 27.9% 
increase as compared with the previous year.

The Company has implemented a new accounting standard that is applicable for the current reporting period. 

AASB 16: Leases  has been applied retrospectively using the modified cumulative approach, with the cumulative effect of initially applying 
the standard recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 July 2019. Therefore, the comparative 
information has not been restated and continues to be reported under AASB 117: Leases . 

The spread of COVID-19 has severely impacted many local economies around the globe. In many countries, businesses are being forced to 
cease or limit operations for long or indefinite periods of time. Measures taken to contain the spread of the virus, including travel bans, 
quarantines, social distancing, and closures of non-essential services have triggered significant disruptions to businesses worldwide, 
resulting in an economic slowdown. Global stock markets have also experienced great volatility and a significant weakening. Governments 
and central banks have responded with monetary interventions to stabilise economic conditions. The company’s financial position remains 
steady although it has been impacted by reduced foot traffic into its branches, but it has been able to maintain its opening hours and staff 
numbers.

Board meetings Audit Committee meetings

Naren Popat has been the Company Secretary of Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited since 2013. Naren's qualifications and 
experience include a Bachelor of Commerce and Masters of Tax and over 30 years of experience as a practising Chartered Accountant.
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Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Directors' report

The Company has determined that these events have not required any specific adjustments within the financial report. The duration and 
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as the effectiveness of government and central bank responses, remains unclear at this time. It is 
not possible to reliably estimate the duration and severity of these consequences, as well as any impact on the financial position and results 
of the Company for future periods.

Dividends

A fully franked final dividend of 10 cents per share was declared and paid during the year for the year ended 30 June 2019. No dividend has 
been declared or paid for the year ended 30 June 2020 as yet.

Options

No options over issued shares were granted during or since the end of the financial year and there were no options outstanding as at the 
date of this report. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs

No significant changes in the company's state of affairs occurred during the financial year.

Events subsequent to the end of the reporting period

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year that significantly affect or may significantly affect the operations 
of the company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the company, in future financial years.

Likely developments

The company will continue its policy of providing banking services to the community. 

Environmental regulations

The company is not subject to any significant environmental regulation. 

Indemnifying Officers or Auditor 

The company has agreed to indemnify each Officer (Director, Secretary or employee) out of assets of the company to the relevant extent 
against any liability incurred by that person arising out of the discharge of their duties, except where the liability arises out of conduct 
involving dishonesty, negligence, breach of duty or the lack of good faith. The company also has Officers Insurance for the benefit of Officers 
of the company against any liability occurred by the Officer, which includes the Officer’s liability for legal costs, in or arising out of the 
conduct of the business of the company or in or arising out of the discharge of the Officer’s duties.

Disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium is prohibited by the confidentiality clause of the contract of insurance. 
The company has not provided any insurance for an Auditor of the company.

Proceedings on behalf of company

No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any proceedings to which the 
company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of those proceedings. The company 
was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 

Auditor independence declaration

A copy of the Auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set at page 9 of this 
financial report. No Officer of the company is or has been a partner of the Auditor of the company.

3
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Directors’ report (continued)

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Directors' report
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involving dishonesty, negligence, breach of duty or the lack of good faith. The company also has Officers Insurance for the benefit of Officers 
of the company against any liability occurred by the Officer, which includes the Officer’s liability for legal costs, in or arising out of the 
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Disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium is prohibited by the confidentiality clause of the contract of insurance. 
The company has not provided any insurance for an Auditor of the company.

Proceedings on behalf of company

No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any proceedings to which the 
company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of those proceedings. The company 
was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 

Auditor independence declaration

A copy of the Auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set at page 9 of this 
financial report. No Officer of the company is or has been a partner of the Auditor of the company.
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Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors at Upwey on 07 September 2020

A fully franked dividend of 10 cents per share was paid during the 2020 financial year for the year ended 30 June 2019. A fully franked 
dividend of 10 cents per share is declared to be paid in December 2020 for the 2020 financial year.
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Financial statements

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 30 June 2020

2020 2019
Note $ $

Revenue 2 3,178,603 3,288,627

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 3 (1,609,588) (1,627,147)
Depreciation and amortisation 3 (98,358) (86,852)
Finance costs 3 (14,978) -
Bad and doubtful debts expense 3 (3,069) (2,939)
Administration and general costs (402,595) (450,111)
Occupancy expenses (96,777) (131,734)
IT expenses (68,677) (66,556)
Other expenses (47,879) (56,681)

(2,341,921) (2,422,020)

Operating profit before charitable donations and sponsorship 836,682 866,607

Charitable donations and sponsorship (372,736) (167,898)

Profit before income tax 463,946 698,709

Income tax expense 4 (111,993) (193,760)

Profit for the year after income tax 351,953 504,949

Other comprehensive income
Revaluation of land & building 405,082 -
Income tax on revaluation (111,398) -
Net other comprehensive income 293,684 -

Total comprehensive income for the year 645,637 504,949

Profit attributable to members of the company 645,637 504,949

Total comprehensive income attributable to members of the company 645,637 504,949

Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable to 
the ordinary equity holders of the company (cents per share):

- basic earnings per share 19 29.06 22.72

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Financial statements (continued)

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2020

2020 2019
Note $ $

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 2,478,961 2,442,389
Trade and other receivables 6 244,923 267,667
Financial assets 7 521,892 511,047
Current tax asset 4 18,424 -
Other assets 8 31,568 34,350
Total current assets 3,295,768 3,255,453

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 1,204,642 546,461
Intangible assets 10 205,719 53,722
Deferred tax assets 4 - 58,703
Total non-current assets 1,410,361 658,886

Total assets 4,706,129 3,914,339

Liabilities 
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 12 267,426 118,929
Current tax liability 4 - 128,521
Leases 13 26,703 -
Provisions 14 178,523 169,910
Total current liabilities 472,652 417,360

Non-current liabilities
Leases 13 237,353 -
Provisions 14 18,380 14,531
Deferred tax liability 4 71,863 -
Total non-current liabilities 327,596 14,531

Total liabilities 800,248 431,891

Net assets 3,905,881 3,482,448

Equity
Issued capital 15 701,300 701,300
Retained earnings 16 2,910,897 2,781,148
Reserves 18 293,684 -
Total equity 3,905,881 3,482,448

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Financial statements (continued)

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2019 701,300 2,781,148 - 3,482,448

Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - 351,953 - 351,953
Other comprehensive income for the year - - 293,684 293,684

- 351,953 293,684 645,637

Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners

Dividends paid or provided 17 - (222,204) - (222,204)

Balance at 30 June 2020 701,300 2,910,897 293,684 3,905,881

Balance at 1 July 2018 701,300 2,498,403 - 3,199,703

Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - 504,949 - 504,949
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - -

- 504,949 - 504,949

Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners

Dividends paid or provided 17 - (222,204) - (222,204)

Balance at 30 June 2019 701,300 2,781,148 - 3,482,448

Issued 
capital

Retained 
earnings Reserves  Total equity

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 30 June 2020

2020 2019
Note $ $

Revenue 2 3,178,603 3,288,627

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 3 (1,609,588) (1,627,147)
Depreciation and amortisation 3 (98,358) (86,852)
Finance costs 3 (14,978) -
Bad and doubtful debts expense 3 (3,069) (2,939)
Administration and general costs (402,595) (450,111)
Occupancy expenses (96,777) (131,734)
IT expenses (68,677) (66,556)
Other expenses (47,879) (56,681)

(2,341,921) (2,422,020)

Operating profit before charitable donations and sponsorship 836,682 866,607

Charitable donations and sponsorship (372,736) (167,898)

Profit before income tax 463,946 698,709

Income tax expense 4 (111,993) (193,760)

Profit for the year after income tax 351,953 504,949

Other comprehensive income
Revaluation of land & building 405,082 -
Income tax on revaluation (111,398) -
Net other comprehensive income 293,684 -

Total comprehensive income for the year 645,637 504,949

Profit attributable to members of the company 645,637 504,949

Total comprehensive income attributable to members of the company 645,637 504,949

Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable to 
the ordinary equity holders of the company (cents per share):

- basic earnings per share 19 29.06 22.72

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Financial statements (continued)

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020 2019
Note $ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 3,468,243 3,536,341
Payments to suppliers and employees (2,880,950) (2,823,137)
Interest paid (14,978) -
Interest received 33,931 53,566
Income tax paid (239,771) (100,516)

Net cash flows provided by operating activities 20b 366,475 666,254

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 13,636 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (50,223) (18,087)
Purchase of investments (10,846) (11,047)
Purchase of intangible assets (34,959) -

Net cash flows used in investing activities (82,392) (29,134)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of lease liabilities (25,307) -
Dividends paid (222,204) (222,204)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (247,511) (222,204)

Net increase in cash held 36,572 414,916

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 2,442,389 2,027,473

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 20a 2,478,961 2,442,389

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 30 June 2020

2020 2019
Note $ $
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Bad and doubtful debts expense 3 (3,069) (2,939)
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Profit before income tax 463,946 698,709

Income tax expense 4 (111,993) (193,760)

Profit for the year after income tax 351,953 504,949

Other comprehensive income
Revaluation of land & building 405,082 -
Income tax on revaluation (111,398) -
Net other comprehensive income 293,684 -

Total comprehensive income for the year 645,637 504,949

Profit attributable to members of the company 645,637 504,949

Total comprehensive income attributable to members of the company 645,637 504,949

Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable to 
the ordinary equity holders of the company (cents per share):

- basic earnings per share 19 29.06 22.72

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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For year ended 30 June 2020

Text to come

Notes to the financial statements
Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited

ABN 28 084 480 035
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

1. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
(a) Basis of preparation

These financial statements and notes represent those of Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited (the Company) as an 
individual entity.

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 27 August 2020.

Economic dependency

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,  Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and International Financial Reporting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board. The Company is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian 
Accounting Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and 
have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.

The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs, 
modified, were applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The 
amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 

The company has entered into a franchise agreement with Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited that governs the management of the 
Community Bank branches at Upwey, Belgrave and Cockatoo.

The branches operate as a franchise of Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited, using the name “Bendigo Bank”, the logo, and systems of 
operation of Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited. The company manages the Community Bank branches on behalf of Bendigo and 
Adelaide Bank Limited, however all transactions with customers conducted through the Community Bank branches are effectively 
conducted between the customers and Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited.

All deposits are made with Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited, and all personal and investment products are products of Bendigo and 
Adelaide Bank Limited, with the company facilitating the provision of those products. All loans, leases or hire purchase transactions, 
issues of new credit or debit cards, temporary or bridging finance and any other transaction that involves creating a new debt, or 
increasing or changing the terms of an existing debt owed to Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited, must be approved by Bendigo and 
Adelaide Bank Limited. All credit transactions are made with Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited, and all credit products are products of 
Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited.

Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited provides significant assistance in establishing and maintaining the Community Bank branches 
franchise operations. It also continues to provide ongoing management and operational support, and other assistance and guidance in 
relation to all aspects of the franchise operation, including advice in relation to:
     - Advice and assistance in relation to the design, layout and fit out of the Community Bank branches;
     - Training for the Branch Managers and other employees in banking, management systems and interface protocol;
     - Methods and procedures for the sale of products and provision of services;
     - Security and cash logistic controls;
     - Calculation of company revenue and payment of many operating and administrative expenses;
     - The formulation and implementation of advertising and promotional programs; and
     - Sale techniques and proper customer relations.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Impairment of assets 

(c) Goods and services tax (GST)

 

(d) Comparative figures

(e) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimation of useful lives of assets 

Fair value assessment of non-current physical assets 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to 
suppliers.

The AASB 13 Fair Value standard requires fair value assessments that may involved both complex and significant judgement and 
experts. The value of land and buildings may be materially misstated and potential classification and disclosure risks may occur.

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on historical knowledge and best 
available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and 
economic data, obtained both externally and within the Company. Estimates and judgements are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revision to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. The 
estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities are 
as follows: 

The company determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where useful lives are less than previously 
estimated lives. 

When required by Accounting Standards comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current 
financial year.

At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. The 
assessment will include the consideration of external and internal sources of information. If such an indication exists, an impairment test 
is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less cost to sell 
and value in use, to the asset's carrying amount. Any excess of the asset's carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount in accordance with another Standard. Any impairment loss 
of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with that other Standard. 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable 
from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 
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Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

Employee benefits provision  

Income tax

Impairment 

(f) New and revised standards that are effective for these financial statements

Instead of performing an impairment review on the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application, the Company has relied on its 
historic assessment as to whether leases were onerous immediately before the date of initial application of AASB 16.

The company is subject to income tax. Significant judgement is required in determining the deferred tax asset.  Deferred tax assets are 
recognised only when it is considered sufficient future profits will be generated. The assumptions made regarding future profits is based 
on the company's assessment of future cash flows.

For contracts in place at the date of initial application, as permitted under the specific transition provisions in the standard, the 
Company has elected to apply the definition of a lease from AASB 117 and relevant associated interpretations, and has not applied 
AASB 16 to arrangements that were previously not identified as a lease under AASB 117 and associated interpretations. This means 
that any contracts that were deemed to not contain a lease under AASB 117 have not been reassessed under AASB 16.

With the exception of the below, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the same accounting policies 
adopted in the entity's last annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019. Note that the changes in accounting policies 
specified below ONLY apply to the current period. The accounting policies included in the company's last annual financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2019 are the relevant policies for the purposes of comparatives. 

AASB 16 Leases  became mandatorily effective on 1 January 2019. Accordingly, these standards apply for the first time to this set of 
annual financial statements. The nature and effect of changes arising from these standards are summarised in the section below.

AASB 16 Leases replaces AASB 117 Leases and three associated Interpretations. The new standard has been applied using the 
modified retrospective approach, with the cumulative effect of adopting AASB 16 being recognised in equity as an adjustment to the 
opening balance of retained earnings for the current period. Prior periods have not been restated, as permitted under the specific 
transition provisions in the standard. 

The Company has also elected to not include initial direct costs in the measurement of the right-of-use asset for operating leases in 
existence at the date of initial application of AASB 16, being 1 July 2019. Furthermore, at this date, the Company has elected to 
measure the right-of-use assets at an amount equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments that 
existed at the date of transition as allowed under the transition provisions. 

The company assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions and events specific to the company that 
may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are reassessed using value in use calculations which 
incorporate various key assumptions. 

AASB 16 Leases

Assumptions are required for wage growth and CPI movements. The likelihood of employees reaching unconditional service is 
estimated. The timing of when employee benefit obligations are to be settled is also estimated. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

Employee benefits provision  

Income tax

Impairment 

(f) New and revised standards that are effective for these financial statements

Instead of performing an impairment review on the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application, the Company has relied on its 
historic assessment as to whether leases were onerous immediately before the date of initial application of AASB 16.

The company is subject to income tax. Significant judgement is required in determining the deferred tax asset.  Deferred tax assets are 
recognised only when it is considered sufficient future profits will be generated. The assumptions made regarding future profits is based 
on the company's assessment of future cash flows.

For contracts in place at the date of initial application, as permitted under the specific transition provisions in the standard, the 
Company has elected to apply the definition of a lease from AASB 117 and relevant associated interpretations, and has not applied 
AASB 16 to arrangements that were previously not identified as a lease under AASB 117 and associated interpretations. This means 
that any contracts that were deemed to not contain a lease under AASB 117 have not been reassessed under AASB 16.

With the exception of the below, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the same accounting policies 
adopted in the entity's last annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019. Note that the changes in accounting policies 
specified below ONLY apply to the current period. The accounting policies included in the company's last annual financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2019 are the relevant policies for the purposes of comparatives. 

AASB 16 Leases  became mandatorily effective on 1 January 2019. Accordingly, these standards apply for the first time to this set of 
annual financial statements. The nature and effect of changes arising from these standards are summarised in the section below.

AASB 16 Leases replaces AASB 117 Leases and three associated Interpretations. The new standard has been applied using the 
modified retrospective approach, with the cumulative effect of adopting AASB 16 being recognised in equity as an adjustment to the 
opening balance of retained earnings for the current period. Prior periods have not been restated, as permitted under the specific 
transition provisions in the standard. 

The Company has also elected to not include initial direct costs in the measurement of the right-of-use asset for operating leases in 
existence at the date of initial application of AASB 16, being 1 July 2019. Furthermore, at this date, the Company has elected to 
measure the right-of-use assets at an amount equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments that 
existed at the date of transition as allowed under the transition provisions. 

The company assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions and events specific to the company that 
may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are reassessed using value in use calculations which 
incorporate various key assumptions. 

AASB 16 Leases

Assumptions are required for wage growth and CPI movements. The likelihood of employees reaching unconditional service is 
estimated. The timing of when employee benefit obligations are to be settled is also estimated. 

12

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

Employee benefits provision  

Income tax

Impairment 

(f) New and revised standards that are effective for these financial statements

Instead of performing an impairment review on the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application, the Company has relied on its 
historic assessment as to whether leases were onerous immediately before the date of initial application of AASB 16.

The company is subject to income tax. Significant judgement is required in determining the deferred tax asset.  Deferred tax assets are 
recognised only when it is considered sufficient future profits will be generated. The assumptions made regarding future profits is based 
on the company's assessment of future cash flows.

For contracts in place at the date of initial application, as permitted under the specific transition provisions in the standard, the 
Company has elected to apply the definition of a lease from AASB 117 and relevant associated interpretations, and has not applied 
AASB 16 to arrangements that were previously not identified as a lease under AASB 117 and associated interpretations. This means 
that any contracts that were deemed to not contain a lease under AASB 117 have not been reassessed under AASB 16.

With the exception of the below, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the same accounting policies 
adopted in the entity's last annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019. Note that the changes in accounting policies 
specified below ONLY apply to the current period. The accounting policies included in the company's last annual financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2019 are the relevant policies for the purposes of comparatives. 

AASB 16 Leases  became mandatorily effective on 1 January 2019. Accordingly, these standards apply for the first time to this set of 
annual financial statements. The nature and effect of changes arising from these standards are summarised in the section below.

AASB 16 Leases replaces AASB 117 Leases and three associated Interpretations. The new standard has been applied using the 
modified retrospective approach, with the cumulative effect of adopting AASB 16 being recognised in equity as an adjustment to the 
opening balance of retained earnings for the current period. Prior periods have not been restated, as permitted under the specific 
transition provisions in the standard. 

The Company has also elected to not include initial direct costs in the measurement of the right-of-use asset for operating leases in 
existence at the date of initial application of AASB 16, being 1 July 2019. Furthermore, at this date, the Company has elected to 
measure the right-of-use assets at an amount equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments that 
existed at the date of transition as allowed under the transition provisions. 

The company assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions and events specific to the company that 
may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are reassessed using value in use calculations which 
incorporate various key assumptions. 

AASB 16 Leases

Assumptions are required for wage growth and CPI movements. The likelihood of employees reaching unconditional service is 
estimated. The timing of when employee benefit obligations are to be settled is also estimated. 
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Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

              44,971 

                     -   
                     -   
                     -   

            326,149 
            371,120 
            289,363 

 $ 
Lease liability as at 1 July 2019             289,363 

 Represented by:
Current lease liabilities               25,308 
Non-current lease liabilities             264,055 

            289,363 

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following types of assets:
30 June 2020  1 July 2019

$ $
Properties             273,500          289,363 
Total right-of-use assets             273,500          289,363 

Balance sheet item Effect Amount
Property, plant and equipment Increase/Decrease            289,363 
Lease liabilities Increase/Decrease            289,363 

On transition, for leases previously accounted for as operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months and for 
leases of low-value-assets (less than $10,000) the Company has applied the optional exemptions to not recognise right-of-use assets 
but to account for the lease expense on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term. 

For those leases previously classified as finance leases, the right-of-use asset and lease liability are measured at the date of initial 
application at the same amounts as under AASB 117 immediately before the date of initial application.

On transition to AASB 16 the weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised under AASB 16 was 
5.39%

The Company has benefited from the use of hindsight for determining lease term when considering options to extend and terminate 
leases. 

(f) New and revised standards that are effective for these financial statements (continued)

Recognition exemptions:
• leases of low value assets
• leases with remaining lease terms of less than 12 months

Variable lease payments not recognised
Other minor adjustments relating to commitment disclosures
Operating lease liabilities before discounting

The following is a reconciliation of total operating lease commitments at 30 June 2019 to the lease liabilities recognised at 1 July 2019.

Total operating lease commitments disclosed at 30 June 2019

Lease liability discounted using incremental borrowing rate at date of initial application (1 July 19)

Adjustments recognised in the balance sheet on 1 July 2019

The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the balance sheet on 1 July 2019: 

13



Annual Report Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited 17

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
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The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following types of assets:
30 June 2020  1 July 2019
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Properties             273,500          289,363 
Total right-of-use assets             273,500          289,363 

Balance sheet item Effect Amount
Property, plant and equipment Increase/Decrease            289,363 
Lease liabilities Increase/Decrease            289,363 

On transition, for leases previously accounted for as operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months and for 
leases of low-value-assets (less than $10,000) the Company has applied the optional exemptions to not recognise right-of-use assets 
but to account for the lease expense on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term. 

For those leases previously classified as finance leases, the right-of-use asset and lease liability are measured at the date of initial 
application at the same amounts as under AASB 117 immediately before the date of initial application.

On transition to AASB 16 the weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised under AASB 16 was 
5.39%

The Company has benefited from the use of hindsight for determining lease term when considering options to extend and terminate 
leases. 

(f) New and revised standards that are effective for these financial statements (continued)

Recognition exemptions:
• leases of low value assets
• leases with remaining lease terms of less than 12 months

Variable lease payments not recognised
Other minor adjustments relating to commitment disclosures
Operating lease liabilities before discounting

The following is a reconciliation of total operating lease commitments at 30 June 2019 to the lease liabilities recognised at 1 July 2019.

Total operating lease commitments disclosed at 30 June 2019

Lease liability discounted using incremental borrowing rate at date of initial application (1 July 19)

Adjustments recognised in the balance sheet on 1 July 2019

The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the balance sheet on 1 July 2019: 
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Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
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On transition, for leases previously accounted for as operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months and for 
leases of low-value-assets (less than $10,000) the Company has applied the optional exemptions to not recognise right-of-use assets 
but to account for the lease expense on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term. 

For those leases previously classified as finance leases, the right-of-use asset and lease liability are measured at the date of initial 
application at the same amounts as under AASB 117 immediately before the date of initial application.

On transition to AASB 16 the weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised under AASB 16 was 
5.39%

The Company has benefited from the use of hindsight for determining lease term when considering options to extend and terminate 
leases. 

(f) New and revised standards that are effective for these financial statements (continued)

Recognition exemptions:
• leases of low value assets
• leases with remaining lease terms of less than 12 months

Variable lease payments not recognised
Other minor adjustments relating to commitment disclosures
Operating lease liabilities before discounting

The following is a reconciliation of total operating lease commitments at 30 June 2019 to the lease liabilities recognised at 1 July 2019.

Total operating lease commitments disclosed at 30 June 2019

Lease liability discounted using incremental borrowing rate at date of initial application (1 July 19)

Adjustments recognised in the balance sheet on 1 July 2019

The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the balance sheet on 1 July 2019: 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Change in accounting policies

On the statement of financial position, the right-of-use assets have been included in property, plant and equipment (except those 
meeting the definition of investment property) and lease liabilities have been included in borrowings. 

The Company has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of 
recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 

At the commencement date, the Company measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the Company's incremental borrowing rate. 

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is remeasured to reflect 
any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments. 

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-
use asset is already reduced to zero. 

The Company as a lessee

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
At lease commencement date, the Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The right-of-use 
asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the 
Company, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in 
advance of the lease commencement date (net any incentives received). 

The Company depreciates the right-of-use asset on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of 
the useful life of the right-of-use asset or to the end of the lease term. The Company also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment 
when such indicators exist. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in substance fixed), variable 
payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from 
options reasonably certain to be exercised. 

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 July 2019, the Company considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is 
defined as 'a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration'. To apply this definition the Company assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:

• the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by being identified at 
the time the asset is made available to the Company
• the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the identified asset throughout the 
period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract
• the Company has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The Company assess whether it has 
the right to direct 'how and for what purpose' the asset is used throughout the period of use. 

Accounting policy applicable from 1 July 2019
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Change in accounting policies (continued)

AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors

The company does not intend to adopt the standard before its effective date.

Accounting policy applicable before 1 July 2019
The Company as a lessee
Finance leases

As the company is not a grantor in a service concession arrangement, the directors have determined this standard will not affect the 
company when adopted.

Impact of standards issued but not yet applied by the entity

The new rules will affect the financial statements and key performance indicators of all entities that issue insurance contracts or 
investment contracts with discretionary participation features. As the company does not issue any insurance contracts or investment 
contracts with discretionary participation features, the directors have determined this standard will not affect the company when adopted.

The company does not intend to adopt the standard before its effective date.

The standard applies to both not-for-profit and for-profit public sector entities that are grantors in a service concession arrangement. 
These are arrangements that involve an operator providing public services related to a service concession asset on behalf of a public 
sector entity for a specified period of time and managing at least some of those services. 

AASB 17 Insurance Contracts
AASB 17 was issued in July 2017 as replacement for AASB 4 Insurance Contracts. It requires a current measurement model where 
estimates are re-measured each reporting period. The standard allows a choice between recognising changes in discount rates either in 
the statement of profit or loss or directly in other comprehensive income. The choice is likely to reflect how insurers account for their 
financial assets under AASB 9. 

Operating leases
All other leases are treated as operating leases. Where the Company is a lessee, payments on operating lease agreements are 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are 
expensed as incurred. 

For leases of land and buildings, the minimum lease payments are first allocated to each component based on the relative fair values of 
the respective lease interests. Each component is then evaluated separately for possible treatment as a finance lease, taking into 
consideration the fact that land normally has an indefinite economic life. 

Management applies judgement in considering the substance of a lease agreement and whether it transfers substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset. Key factors considered include the length of the lease term in relation to the 
economic life of the asset, the present value of the minimum lease payments in relation to the asset's fair value, and whether the 
Company obtains ownership of the asset at the end of the lease term. 

See the accounting policy note in the year-end financial statements for the depreciation methods and useful lives for assets held under 
finance leases. The interest element of lease payments is charged to profit or loss, as finance costs over the period of the lease.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

2. Revenue
2020 2019

$ $
Revenue
 - service commissions 3,047,712 3,208,758

3,047,712 3,208,758

Other revenue
 - interest received 33,931 53,566
 - other revenue 96,960 26,303

130,891 79,869

Total revenue 3,178,603 3,288,627

Interest income

Rendering of services

Core Banking Products

Margin

Commission

Fee Income

Revenue arises from the rendering of services through its franchise agreement with the Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited. The 
revenue recognised is measured by reference to the fair value of consideration received or receivable, excluding sales taxes, 
rebates, and trade discounts.

The entity applies the revenue recognition criteria set out below to each separately identifiable sales transaction in order to reflect 
the substance of the transaction. 

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

As detailed in the franchise agreement, companies earn three types of revenue - margin, commission and fee income. Bendigo 
and Adelaide Bank Limited decide the method of calculation of revenue the company earns on different types of products and 
services and this is dependent on the type of business the company generates also taking into account other factors including 
economic conditions, including interest rates. 

Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited identify specific products and services as 'core banking products', however it also reserves the 
right to change the products and services identified as 'core banking products', providing 30 days notice is given. The core banking 
products, as at the end of the financial year included: Deposits & Loans

Margin is earned on all core banking products. A Funds Transfer Pricing (FTP) model is used for the method of calculation of the 
cost of funds, deposit return and margin. Margin is determined by taking the interest paid by customers on loans less interest paid 
to customers on deposits, plus any deposit returns, i.e. interest return applied by Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited for a deposit, 
minus any costs of funds i.e. interest applied by Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited to fund a loan. 

Fee income is a share of 'bank fees and charges' charged to customers by Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited, including fees for 
loan applications and account transactions. 

Commission is a fee earned on products and services sold. Depending on the product or services, it may be paid on the initial sale 
or on an ongoing basis. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

2. Revenue (continued)

Discretionary Financial Contributions

Form and Amount of Financial Return

3. Expenses
2020 2019

$ $
Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Employee benefits expense
 - wages and salaries 1,403,036 1,360,510
 - superannuation costs 127,320 128,839
 - other costs 79,232 137,798

1,609,588 1,627,147

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation
 - buildings 10,417 10,267
 - leasehold improvements 4,093 4,093
 - office furniture and fittings 15,330 24,195
 - motor vehicles 6,750 7,824
 -  lease (AASB 16) 31,640 -

68,230 46,379

• A change to the method of calculation of costs of funds, deposit return and margin and a change to the amount of any 
margin, commission and fee income.

These abovementioned changes, may impact the revenue received by the company on a particular product or service, or a range 
of products and services. 

However, if Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited make any of the above changes, per the franchise agreement, it must comply with 
the following constraints in doing so. 

a) If margin or commission is paid on a core banking product or service, Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited cannot change it 
to fee income;
b) In changing a margin to a commission or a commission to a margin on a core banking product or service, OR  changing the 
method of calculation of a cost of funds, deposit return or margin or amount of margin or commission on a core product or 
service, Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited must not reduce the company's share of Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited's 
margin on core banking product and services when aggregated to less than 50% of Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited's 
margin on core banking products attributed to the company's retail branch operation; and 
c) Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited must publish the change at least 30 days before making the change.

Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited has made discretionary financial payments to the company, outside of the franchise 
agreement and in addition to margin, commission and fee income. This income received by the company is classified as "Market 
Development Fund" (MDF) income. The purpose of these payments is to assist the company with local market development 
activities, however, it is for the board to decide how to use the MDF. Due to their discretionary nature, Bendigo and Adelaide Bank 
Limited may change or stop these payments at any time. 

The franchise agreement stipulates that Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited may change the form, method of calculation or 
amount of financial return the company receives. The reasons behind making a change may include, but not limited to, changes in 
Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited's revenue streams/processes; economic factors or industry changes. 

• A change as to whether it pays the company margin, commission or fee income on any product or service.

Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited may make any of the following changes to form, method of calculation or amount of financial 
returns:

• A change to the products and services identified as 'core banking products and services'
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

3. Expenses (continued)
2020 2019

$ $
Amortisation
 - franchise fees 30,128 40,473

30,128 40,473
Total depreciation and amortisation 98,358 86,852

Finance costs
 - Interest paid 14,978 -

Bad and doubtful debts expenses 3,069 2,939

(Gain) / Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4,621 1,823

Auditors' remuneration
Remuneration of the Auditor, RSD Audit, for:
 - Audit or review of the financial report 6,150 5,850

6,150 5,850

Operating expenses

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are:

Class of asset Rate
Buildings 2.5%
Leasehold improvements 2.5% - 6.67% 
Office furniture and fittings 10% - 100%
Motor vehicles 25%
Franchise Fee 20%
Right-of-Use Assets 5% - 20%

Gains/losses upon disposal of non-current assets

The asset's residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation 
surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

Method
Straight line 
Straight line 

Diminishing value & Staright line
Diminishing value

Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss on an accruals basis, which is typically upon utilisation of the service or at the 
date upon which the entity becomes liable.

The depreciable amount of all fixed and intangible assets, including buildings and capitalised leased assets, but excluding freehold 
land, is depreciated over the asset's useful life to the company commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives 
of the improvements.

Depreciation

Straight line 
Straight line 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

4. Income tax
2020 2019

$ $
a. The components of tax expense comprise: 

Current tax expense 92,825 200,960
Deferred tax expense 19,168 (7,200)

111,993 193,760

b. Prima facie tax payable
The prima facie tax on profit from ordinary activities 
before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:

Prima facie tax on profit before income tax at 27.5% (2019: 27.5%) 127,585 192,145

Add tax effect of:
- Non-deductible expenses 1,672 -
- Non-assessable income (17,264) -

Income tax attributable to the entity 111,993 192,145

The applicable weighted average effective tax rate is: -24.14% -27.73%

c. Current tax liability
Current tax relates to the following:
Current tax liabilities / (assets)

Opening balance 128,521 28,077
Income tax paid (239,770) (100,516)
Current tax 92,825 200,960
Under / (over) provision prior years - -

(18,424) 128,521

d. Deferred tax Asset / liability
Deferred tax relates to the following:
Deferred tax assets comprise:

Right of Use assets and lease liabilities from  AASB 16 1,741 -
Property, plant & equipment - 9,231
Accruals 11,866 7,716
Employee provisions 54,149 50,721

67,756 67,668
Deferred tax liabilities comprise:

Accrued income 4,578 3,388
Property, plant & equipment 122,222 5,577
Prepayments 12,818 -

139,618 8,965
Net deferred tax asset / liability (71,863) 58,703

e. Deferred income tax included in income tax expense comprises:
Decrease / (increase) in deferred tax assets (88) (9,413)
Increase in deferred tax liabilities (130,653) 2,213

(130,741) (7,200)

The income tax expense for the year comprises current income tax expense and deferred tax expense.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

4. Income tax (continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of off-set exists and it is intended that net settlement 
or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
offset where: (i) a legally enforceable right of set-off exists; and (ii) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity. 

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, and their measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability.

Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income for the current period. Current tax 
liabilities/assets are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to/recovered from the relevant taxation authority.

Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the year as well 
as unused tax losses.

A deferred tax liability shall be recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability 
arises from:
- the initial recognition of goodwill; and
- the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which:
          • is not a business combination; and
          • at the time of the transaction, affects nether accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).
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Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

5. Cash and cash equivalents

2020 2019
$ $

Cash at bank and on hand 2,478,961 2,442,389
2,478,961 2,442,389

6. Trade and other receivables
2020 2019

$ $
Current 
Trade receivables 244,923 267,667

244,923 267,667

Credit risk 

Gross Not past Past due 
amount due < 30 days 31-60 days > 60 days and impaired

2020 $ $ $ $ $ $
Trade receivables 244,923 244,923 - - - -
Total 244,923 244,923 - - - -

2019
Trade receivables 267,667 267,667 - - - -
Total 267,667 267,667 - - - -

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. 

Trade and other receivables are initially measured at the transaction price. Trade and other receivables are due for settlement 
usually no more than 30 days from the date of recognition.

The Company's main debtor relates to the Bendigo & Adelaide Bank monthly profit share distribution, which is deposited 14 days 
post month end, there is no items that require the application of the lifetime expected credit loss model. 

The main source of credit risk relates to a concentration of trade receivables owing by Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited, which 
is the source of the majority of the company's income. 

The Company always measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss. The 
expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the 
debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general 
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current and forecast directions of 
conditions at the reporting date. 

There has been change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current reporting period. 

The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below) are considered to be high credit 
quality. 

Past due but not impaired

The effective interest rate on the bank deposit was 1.35% (2019: 2.4%). This deposit has a term of 6 months, maturing on 30 
September 2020.
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Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

5. Cash and cash equivalents

2020 2019
$ $

Cash at bank and on hand 2,478,961 2,442,389
2,478,961 2,442,389

6. Trade and other receivables
2020 2019

$ $
Current 
Trade receivables 244,923 267,667

244,923 267,667

Credit risk 

Gross Not past Past due 
amount due < 30 days 31-60 days > 60 days and impaired

2020 $ $ $ $ $ $
Trade receivables 244,923 244,923 - - - -
Total 244,923 244,923 - - - -

2019
Trade receivables 267,667 267,667 - - - -
Total 267,667 267,667 - - - -

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. 

Trade and other receivables are initially measured at the transaction price. Trade and other receivables are due for settlement 
usually no more than 30 days from the date of recognition.

The Company's main debtor relates to the Bendigo & Adelaide Bank monthly profit share distribution, which is deposited 14 days 
post month end, there is no items that require the application of the lifetime expected credit loss model. 

The main source of credit risk relates to a concentration of trade receivables owing by Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited, which 
is the source of the majority of the company's income. 

The Company always measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss. The 
expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the 
debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general 
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current and forecast directions of 
conditions at the reporting date. 

There has been change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current reporting period. 

The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below) are considered to be high credit 
quality. 

Past due but not impaired

The effective interest rate on the bank deposit was 1.35% (2019: 2.4%). This deposit has a term of 6 months, maturing on 30 
September 2020.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

5. Cash and cash equivalents

2020 2019
$ $

Cash at bank and on hand 2,478,961 2,442,389
2,478,961 2,442,389

6. Trade and other receivables
2020 2019

$ $
Current 
Trade receivables 244,923 267,667

244,923 267,667

Credit risk 

Gross Not past Past due 
amount due < 30 days 31-60 days > 60 days and impaired

2020 $ $ $ $ $ $
Trade receivables 244,923 244,923 - - - -
Total 244,923 244,923 - - - -

2019
Trade receivables 267,667 267,667 - - - -
Total 267,667 267,667 - - - -

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. 

Trade and other receivables are initially measured at the transaction price. Trade and other receivables are due for settlement 
usually no more than 30 days from the date of recognition.

The Company's main debtor relates to the Bendigo & Adelaide Bank monthly profit share distribution, which is deposited 14 days 
post month end, there is no items that require the application of the lifetime expected credit loss model. 

The main source of credit risk relates to a concentration of trade receivables owing by Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited, which 
is the source of the majority of the company's income. 

The Company always measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss. The 
expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the 
debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general 
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current and forecast directions of 
conditions at the reporting date. 

There has been change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current reporting period. 

The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below) are considered to be high credit 
quality. 

Past due but not impaired

The effective interest rate on the bank deposit was 1.35% (2019: 2.4%). This deposit has a term of 6 months, maturing on 30 
September 2020.

21

(continued)

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

7. Financial assets
2020 2019

$ $
Amortised cost
Term deposits 521,892 511,047

521,892 511,047

(a) Classification of financial assets
The company classifies its financial assets in the following categories:
• amortised cost

(b) Measurement of financial assets

(c) Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):
Financial assets at amortised cost

Classifications are determined by both:
• The entities business model for managing the financial asset
• The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

The effective interest rate on the bank deposit was 1.35% (2019: 2.4%). This deposit has a term of 6 months, maturing on 30 
September 2020.

• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows
• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitted where the 
effect of discounting is immaterial. Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables fall into this category of financial 
instruments as well as government bonds that were previously classified as held-to-maturity under AASB 139.

AASB 9's impairment requirements use more forward looking information to recognise expected credit losses - the 'expected credit 
losses (ECL) model'. Instruments within the scope of the new requirements included loans and other debt-type financial assets 
measured at amortised cost and FVTOCI, trade receivables, contract assets recognised and measured under AASB 15 and loan 
commitments and some financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The company considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit losses, 
including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future 
cash flows of the instrument. 

• financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or that have low credit risk 
('Stage 1') and
• financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit risk is not low 
('Stage 2').

12-month expected credit losses' are recognised for the first category while 'lifetime expected credit losses' are recognised for the 
second category. 

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life 

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

Stage 3' would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. 
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Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

7. Financial assets (continued)

(d) Derecognition

8. Other assets
2020 2019

$ $
Prepayments 14,920 20,278
Other 16,648 14,072

31,568 34,350

Other assets represent items that will provide the entity with future economic benefits controlled by the entity as a result of past 
transactions or other past events. 

of the financial instrument. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expire or the asset is transferred to another 
party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the related obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration 
paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 
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ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

7. Financial assets (continued)

(d) Derecognition

8. Other assets
2020 2019

$ $
Prepayments 14,920 20,278
Other 16,648 14,072

31,568 34,350

Other assets represent items that will provide the entity with future economic benefits controlled by the entity as a result of past 
transactions or other past events. 

of the financial instrument. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expire or the asset is transferred to another 
party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the related obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration 
paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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7. Financial assets
2020 2019

$ $
Amortised cost
Term deposits 521,892 511,047

521,892 511,047

(a) Classification of financial assets
The company classifies its financial assets in the following categories:
• amortised cost

(b) Measurement of financial assets

(c) Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):
Financial assets at amortised cost

Classifications are determined by both:
• The entities business model for managing the financial asset
• The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

The effective interest rate on the bank deposit was 1.35% (2019: 2.4%). This deposit has a term of 6 months, maturing on 30 
September 2020.

• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows
• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitted where the 
effect of discounting is immaterial. Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables fall into this category of financial 
instruments as well as government bonds that were previously classified as held-to-maturity under AASB 139.

AASB 9's impairment requirements use more forward looking information to recognise expected credit losses - the 'expected credit 
losses (ECL) model'. Instruments within the scope of the new requirements included loans and other debt-type financial assets 
measured at amortised cost and FVTOCI, trade receivables, contract assets recognised and measured under AASB 15 and loan 
commitments and some financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The company considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit losses, 
including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future 
cash flows of the instrument. 

• financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or that have low credit risk 
('Stage 1') and
• financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit risk is not low 
('Stage 2').

12-month expected credit losses' are recognised for the first category while 'lifetime expected credit losses' are recognised for the 
second category. 

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life 

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

Stage 3' would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. 
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7. Financial assets (continued)

(d) Derecognition

8. Other assets
2020 2019

$ $
Prepayments 14,920 20,278
Other 16,648 14,072

31,568 34,350

Other assets represent items that will provide the entity with future economic benefits controlled by the entity as a result of past 
transactions or other past events. 

of the financial instrument. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expire or the asset is transferred to another 
party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the related obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration 
paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

23



Annual Report Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited 27

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Da
nd

en
on

g 
Ra

ng
es

 C
om

m
un

ity
 F

in
an

ce
 L

im
ite

d
AB

N 
28

 08
4 4

80
 03

5
No

te
s t

o 
th

e F
in

an
cia

l S
ta

te
m

en
ts

fo
r t

he
 ye

ar
 en

de
d 

30
 Ju

ne
 20

20

9.
Pr

op
er

ty
, p

lan
t a

nd
 eq

ui
pm

en
t

At
 co

st
/V

alu
e 

Ac
cu

m
ul

at
ed

 
de

pr
ec

iat
io

n
W

rit
te

n 
do

wn
 

va
lu

e
At

 co
st

 
Ac

cu
m

ul
at

ed
 

de
pr

ec
iat

io
n

W
rit

te
n 

do
wn

 
va

lu
e

La
nd

 - 
at 

fai
r v

alu
e

54
1,9

91
-

54
1,9

91
13

6,9
09

-
13

6,9
09

Bu
ild

ing
s -

 at
 fa

ir v
alu

e
41

6,6
96

(1
43

,86
8)

27
2,8

28
41

6,6
96

(1
33

,45
0)

28
3,2

46
Le

as
eh

old
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts 
- a

t c
os

t
76

,64
6

(5
4,7

45
)

21
,90

1
76

,64
6

(5
0,6

53
)

25
,99

3
Of

fic
e f

ur
nit

ur
e a

nd
 fit

tin
gs

 - 
at 

co
st

90
2,1

49
(8

36
,25

1)
65

,89
8

89
7,7

68
(8

20
,92

2)
76

,84
6

Mo
tor

 ve
hic

les
 - 

at 
co

st
45

,84
2

(1
,54

1)
44

,30
1

40
,60

6
(1

7,1
39

)
23

,46
7

Ri
gh

t-o
f- 

us
e  

As
se

ts
28

9,3
63

(3
1,6

40
)

25
7,7

23
-

-
-

To
ta

l p
ro

pe
rty

, p
lan

t a
nd

 eq
ui

pm
en

t
2,2

72
,68

7
(1

,06
8,0

45
)

1,2
04

,64
2

1,5
68

,62
5

(1
,02

2,1
64

)
54

6,4
61

La
nd

 a
nd

 b
uil

din
gs

In 
the

 pe
rio

ds
 w

he
n t

he
 fr

ee
ho

ld 
lan

d a
nd

 bu
ild

ing
s a

re
 no

t s
ub

jec
t to

 an
 in

de
pe

nd
en

t v
alu

ati
on

, th
e D

ire
cto

rs 
co

nd
uc

t D
ire

cto
r's

 va
lua

tio
ns

 to
 en

su
re

 th
e l

an
d a

nd
 bu

ild
ing

s' 
ca

rry
ing

 am
ou

nt 
is 

no
t m

ate
ria

lly
 di

ffe
re

nt 
to 

the
 fa

ir v
alu

e. 

Pl
an

t a
nd

 eq
uip

me
nt 

ar
e m

ea
su

re
d o

n t
he

 co
st 

ba
sis

 an
d a

re
 th

er
efo

re
 ca

rri
ed

 at
 co

st 
les

s a
cc

um
ula

ted
 de

pr
ec

iat
ion

 an
d a

ny
 ac

cu
mu

lat
ed

 im
pa

irm
en

t. I
n t

he
 ev

en
t th

e c
ar

ryi
ng

 am
ou

nt 
of 

pla
nt 

an
d e

qu
ipm

en
t is

 gr
ea

ter
 th

an
 th

e e
sti

ma
ted

 re
co

ve
ra

ble
 am

ou
nt,

 th
e c

ar
ryi

ng
 am

ou
nt 

is 
wr

itte
n d

ow
n i

mm
ed

iat
ely

 to
 th

e e
sti

ma
ted

 re
co

ve
ra

ble
 am

ou
nt 

an
d i

mp
air

me
nt 

los
se

s a
re

 re
co

gn
ise

d i
n 

pr
ofi

t o
r lo

ss
. A

 fo
rm

al 
as

se
ss

me
nt 

of 
re

co
ve

ra
ble

 am
ou

nt 
is 

ma
de

 w
he

n i
mp

air
me

nt 
ind

ica
tor

s a
re

 pr
es

en
t.

An
y a

cc
um

ula
ted

 de
pr

ec
iat

ion
 at

 th
e d

ate
 of

 re
va

lua
tio

n i
s e

lim
ina

ted
 ag

ain
st 

the
 gr

os
s c

ar
ryi

ng
 am

ou
nt 

of 
the

 as
se

t a
nd

 th
e n

et 
am

ou
nt 

is 
re

sta
ted

 to
 th

e r
ev

alu
ed

 am
ou

nt 
of 

the
 as

se
t.

Inc
re

as
es

 in
 th

e c
ar

ryi
ng

 am
ou

nt 
ar

isi
ng

 on
 re

va
lua

tio
n o

f la
nd

 an
d b

uil
din

gs
 ar

e c
re

dit
ed

 to
 a 

re
va

lua
tio

n s
ur

plu
s i

n e
qu

ity
. D

ec
re

as
es

 th
at 

off
se

t p
re

vio
us

 in
cre

as
es

 of
 th

e s
am

e a
ss

et 
ar

e 
re

co
gn

ise
d a

ga
ins

t r
ev

alu
ati

on
 su

rp
lus

 di
re

ctl
y i

n e
qu

ity
; a

ll o
the

r d
ec

re
as

es
 ar

e r
ec

og
nis

ed
 in

 pr
ofi

t o
r lo

ss
. 

Pl
an

t a
nd

 e
qu

ipm
en

t

Th
e c

ar
ryi

ng
 am

ou
nt 

of 
lan

d a
nd

 bu
ild

ing
s i

s r
ev

iew
ed

 an
nu

all
y b

y D
ire

cto
rs 

to 
en

su
re

 it 
is 

no
t in

 ex
ce

ss
 of

 th
e r

ec
ov

er
ab

le 
am

ou
nt 

fro
m 

the
se

 as
se

ts.
 T

he
 re

co
ve

ra
ble

 am
ou

nt 
is 

as
se

ss
ed

 on
 

the
 ba

sis
 of

 th
e e

xp
ec

ted
 ne

t c
as

h f
low

s t
ha

t w
ill 

be
 re

ce
ive

d f
ro

m 
the

 as
se

t's
 em

plo
ym

en
t a

nd
 su

bs
eq

ue
nt 

dis
po

sa
l. 

20
20 $

20
19 $

Fr
ee

ho
ld 

lan
d a

nd
 bu

ild
ing

s a
re

 ca
rri

ed
 at

 th
eir

 fa
ir v

alu
e (

be
ing

 th
e a

mo
un

t fo
r w

hic
h a

n a
ss

et 
co

uld
 be

 ex
ch

an
ge

d b
etw

ee
n k

no
wl

ed
ge

ab
le,

 w
illi

ng
 pa

rti
es

 in
 an

 ar
m'

s l
en

gth
 tr

an
sa

cti
on

), 
ba

se
d 

on
 pe

rio
dic

, b
ut 

at 
lea

st 
trie

nn
ial

, v
alu

ati
on

s b
y e

xte
rn

al 
ind

ep
en

de
nt 

va
lue

rs,
 le

ss
 ac

cu
mu

lat
ed

 de
pr

ec
iat

ion
 fo

r b
uil

din
gs

. 

Th
e c

ar
ryi

ng
 am

ou
nt 

of 
pla

nt 
an

d e
qu

ipm
en

t is
 re

vie
we

d a
nn

ua
lly

 by
 D

ire
cto

rs 
to 

en
su

re
 it 

is 
no

t in
 ex

ce
ss

 of
 th

e r
ec

ov
er

ab
le 

am
ou

nt 
of 

the
se

 as
se

ts.
 T

he
 re

co
ve

ra
ble

 am
ou

nt 
is 

as
se

ss
ed

 on
 

the
 ba

sis
 of

 th
e e

xp
ec

ted
 ne

t c
as

h f
low

s t
ha

t w
ill 

be
 re

ce
ive

d f
ro

m 
the

 as
se

t's
 em

plo
ym

en
t a

nd
 su

bs
eq

ue
nt 

dis
po

sa
l. T

he
 ex

pe
cte

d n
et 

ca
sh

 flo
ws

 ha
ve

 be
en

 di
sc

ou
nte

d t
o t

he
ir p

re
se

nt 
va

lue
s i

n 
de

ter
mi

nin
g r

ec
ov

er
ab

le 
am

ou
nts

.

24
 



28 Annual Report Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Da
nd

en
on

g 
Ra

ng
es

 C
om

m
un

ity
 F

in
an

ce
 L

im
ite

d
AB

N 
28

 08
4 4

80
 03

5
No

te
s t

o 
th

e F
in

an
cia

l S
ta

te
m

en
ts

fo
r t

he
 ye

ar
 en

de
d 

30
 Ju

ne
 20

20

9.
Pr

op
er

ty
, p

lan
t a

nd
 eq

ui
pm

en
t (

co
nt

in
ue

d)

(b
) M

ov
em

en
ts

 in
 ca

rry
in

g 
am

ou
nt

s o
f P

P&
E 

(c
on

tin
ue

d)

20
19

La
nd $

Bu
ild

in
gs

$

Le
as

eh
ol

d 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
$

Of
fic

e F
ur

ni
tu

re
 

& 
Fi

tti
ng

s
$

Mo
to

r V
eh

icl
es

$

Ri
gh

t-o
f-U

se
  

As
se

ts
$

To
ta

l
$

Op
en

ing
 ca

rry
ing

 va
lue

13
6,9

09
28

3,7
76

30
,08

2
94

,50
9

31
,30

0
-

57
6,5

76
Ad

dit
ion

s
-

9,7
40

-
8,3

47
-

-
18

,08
7

Di
sp

os
als

-
(3

)
4

(1
,81

5)
(9

)
-

(1
,82

3)
Tr

an
sfe

rs
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

Re
va

lua
tio

ns
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

De
pr

ec
iat

ion
-

(1
0,2

67
)

(4
,09

3)
(2

4,1
95

)
(7

,82
4)

(4
6,3

79
)

Cl
os

ing
 ca

rry
ing

 va
lue

13
6,9

09
28

3,2
46

25
,99

3
76

,84
6

23
,46

7
54

6,4
61

Inc
lud

ed
 in

 th
e n

et 
ca

rry
ing

 am
ou

nt 
of 

pr
op

er
ty,

 pl
an

t a
nd

 eq
uip

me
nt 

ar
e r

igh
t-o

f-u
se

 as
se

ts 
as

 fo
llo

ws
:

20
20 $

Pr
op

er
tie

s
25

7,7
23

To
ta

l r
ig

ht
-o

f-u
se

 as
se

ts
25

7,7
23

20
19

20
20

(c
) M

ov
em

en
ts

 in
 ca

rry
in

g 
am

ou
nt

s o
f P

P&
E 

(c
on

tin
ue

d)
Hi

st
or

ica
l c

os
t

$
$

If l
an

d a
nd

 bu
ild

ing
s w

er
e s

tat
ed

 at
 hi

sto
ric

al 
co

st,
 am

ou
nts

 w
ou

ld 
be

 as
 fo

llo
ws

:
Co

st
55

3,6
05

55
3,6

05
Ac

cu
mu

lat
ed

 D
ep

re
cia

tio
n

(1
33

,45
0)

(1
43

,86
8)

Ne
t b

oo
k v

alu
e

42
0,1

55
40

9,7
37

(d
) R

ig
ht

 o
f u

se
 as

se
ts

 

Op
tio

ns
 to

 e
xte

nd
 o

r t
er

m
ina

te

Th
e C

om
pa

ny
's 

lea
se

 po
rtf

oli
o i

nc
lud

es
 bu

ild
ing

s.

Th
e o

pt
ion

 to
 ex

ten
d o

r t
er

mi
na

te 
ar

e c
on

tai
ne

d i
n t

he
 pr

op
er

ty 
lea

se
s  o

f th
e C

om
pa

ny
. A

ll e
xte

ns
ion

 or
 te

rm
ina

tio
n o

pt
ion

s a
re

 on
ly 

ex
er

cis
ab

le 
by

 th
e C

om
pa

ny
. T

he
 ex

ten
sio

n o
pti

on
s o

r 
ter

mi
na

tio
n o

pt
ion

s w
hic

h w
er

e p
ro

ba
ble

 to
 be

 ex
er

cis
ed

 ha
ve

 be
en

 in
clu

de
d i

n t
he

 ca
lcu

lat
ion

 of
 th

e R
igh

t o
f u

se
 as

se
t. 

26
 



30 Annual Report Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

11. Financial liabilities

12. Trade and other payables

2020 2019
$ $

Current
Unsecured liabilities: 
Trade creditors 5,394 5,094
Other creditors and accruals 262,032 113,835

267,426 118,929

13. Leases
2020 2019

$ $
Current
Property Leases 26,703 -

26,703 -
Non-current
Property Leases 237,353 -

237,353 -

Total leases 264,056 -

Financial liabilities include trade payables, other creditors, loans from third parties and loans from or other amounts due to related 
entities. Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the instrument is classified as "fair value 
through profit or loss", in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted prices 
in an active market are used to determine fair value. Non-derivative financial liabilities other than financial guarantees are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and 
when the financial liability is derecognised.

The Company has leases for properties. With the exception of short-term leases and leases of low-value underlying assets, each 
lease is reflected on the balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. Variable lease payments which do not depend 
on an index or a rate (such as a lease payments based on a percentage of Group sales) are excluded from the initial 
measurement of the lease liability and asset. The Company classifies its right-of-use assets in a consistent manner to its property, 
plant and equipment (see Note 9)

Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity that remain unpaid at the end of 
the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition 
of the liability.

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

The average credit period on trade and other payables is one month. 

A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (i.e. when the obligation in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires). An 
exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with substantially modified terms, or a substantial modification to the terms 
of a financial liability, is treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

13. Leases (continued)

Lease payments not recognised as a liability

Carrying 
amount
(Note 9)

Depreciation 
Expense Impairment

Property Leases 257,723           (31,640) -
257,723 (31,640) -

14. Provisions
2020 2019

$ $
Current
Employee benefits 178,523 169,910

Non-current
Employee benefits 18,381 14,531

Total provisions 196,904 184,441

Total cash outflows for leases for the year ended 30 June 2020 was $ 25,307 (2019: NIL).

The Company has elected not to recognise a lease liability for short term leases (leases with an expected term of 12 months or 
less) or for leases of low value assets. Payments made under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis. In addition, 
certain variable lease payments are not permitted to be recognised as lease liabilities and are expensed as incurred. 

The expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability is NIL

At 30 June 2020, the Company was not committed to short-term leases.

Variable lease payments expensed on the basis that they are not recognised as a lease liability include rentals based on revenue 
from the use of the underlying asset and excess use charges on office equipment. Variable payment terms are used for a variety 
of reasons, including minimising costs for IT equipment with infrequent use. Variable lease payments are expensed in the period 
they are incurred. 

Each lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the Company to sublet the asset to another 
party, the right-of-use asset can only be used by the Company. Leases are either non-cancellable or may only be cancelled by 
incurring a substantive termination fee. Some leases contain an option to purchase the underlying asset outright at the end of the 
lease, or to extend the lease for a further term. The Company is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying leased assets as 
security. For leases over office buildings and factory premises the Company must keep those properties in a good state of repair 
and return the properties in their original condition at the end of the lease. Further, the Company must insure items of property, 
plant & equipment and incur maintenance fees on such items in accordance with the lease contracts. 

There is no lease liabilities secured by the related underlying assets. Future minimum lease payments at 30 June 2020 were NIL.

Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave.

Additional information on the right-of-use assets by class of assets is as follows:
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

14. Provisions (continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Other long-term employee benefits

15. Share capital
2020 2019

$ $

701,300 Ordinary shares fully paid 701,300 701,300
1,520,739 Bonus shares issued for no consideration - -

701,300 701,300

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

(a) Movements in share capital 

Fully paid ordinary shares: 
At the beginning of the reporting period 2,222,039 2,222,039
At the end of the reporting period 2,222,039 2,222,039

(b) Capital management

Provision is made for employees' long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to be settled wholly within 12 
months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. Other long-term employee 
benefits are measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments 
incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures and are discounted at rates 
determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates that 
approximate the terms of the obligations. Any remeasurement for changes in assumptions of obligations for other long-term 
employee benefits are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in which the changes occur.

The company's obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in its statement of financial 
position, except where the company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are presented as current provisions.

The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to sustain future development of the company. The Board of Directors 
monitor the return on capital and the level of dividends to shareholders. Capital is represented by total equity as recorded in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company in proportion to the number of shares 
held. At the shareholders' meetings each shareholder is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, or on a show of hands. The 
company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares. All issued shares are fully paid. All shares 
rank equally with regard to the company's residual assets. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

Provision is made for the Company's obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits are benefits (other 
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in 
which the employees render the related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are 
measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled. 

The liability for annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All other short term employee benefit obligations 
are presented as payables.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

15. Share capital (continued)

(i) the Distribution Limit is the greater of:

(ii)

There were no changes in the company's approach to capital management during the year.

16. Retained earnings
2020 2019

$ $
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 2,781,148 2,498,403
Profit for the year after income tax 351,953 504,949
Dividends paid (222,204) (222,204)
Balance at the end of the reporting period 2,910,897 2,781,148

17. Dividends paid or provided for on ordinary shares
2020 2019

$ $
Dividends paid or provided for during the year

222,204 222,204

18. Reserves
2020 2019

$ $
Asset revaluation reserve
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period - -
Fair value movements during the period 293,684 -
Balance at the end of the reporting period 293,684 -

The reserves represent undistributable gains recognised on the revaluation of non-current assets.

19. Earnings per share
2020 2019

$ $
Basic earnings per share (cents) 29.06              22.72              

Earnings used in calculating basic earnings per share 645,637          504,949          

2,222,039       2,222,039       

A provision is made for the amount of any dividends declared, authorised and no longer payable at the discretion of the entity on 
or before the end of the financial year, but not distributed at balance date.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share

In accordance with the franchise agreement, in any 12 month period, the funds distributed to shareholders shall not exceed the 
Distribution Limit. 

Interim and/or final fully franked ordinary dividend of 10 cents per share 
(2019:10 cents) franked at the tax rate of 27.5% (2019: 27.5%).

the Relevant Rate of Return is equal to the weighted average interest rate on 90 day bank bills over that 12 month 
period plus 5%.

The Board is managing the growth of the business in line with this requirement. There are no other externally imposed capital 
requirements, although the nature of the company is such that amounts will be paid in the form of charitable donations and 
sponsorship. Charitable donations and sponsorship paid can be seen in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Comprehensive 
Income.

(a) 20% of the profit or funds of the company otherwise available for distribution to shareholders in 
      that 12 month period; and
(b) subject to the availability of distributable profits, the Relevant Rate of Return multiplied by the 
      average level of share capital of the Franchisee over that 12 month period; and
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited

ABN 28 084 480 035
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

19. Earnings per share (continued)

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to owners of the company, excluding any costs of 
servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, 
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issues during the year.
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Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

20. Statement of cash flows
2020 2019

$ $

(a) Cash and cash equivalents balances as shown in the Statement of Financial Position can be reconciled 
to that shown in the Statement of Cash Flows as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) 2,478,961 2,442,389
As per the Statement of Cash Flow 2,478,961 2,442,389

Profit for the year after income tax 351,953 504,949

Non-cash flows in profit
 - Depreciation and amortisation 98,358 86,852
 - Bad debts 3,069 -
 - Net loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 4,621 1,823
 - Tax on revaluation of land & buildings (111,398)

Changes in assets and liabilities
 - (Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables 19,675 (16,034)
 - (increase) / decrease in prepayments and other assets 2,782 (8,084)
 - (Increase) / decrease in deferred tax asset 130,566 (7,200)
 - Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables 1,331 (25,959)
 - Increase / (decrease) in current tax liability (146,945) 100,444
 - Increase / (decrease) in provisions 12,463 29,463
Net cash flows from operating activities 366,475 666,254

21. Key management personnel and related party disclosures

(a) Key management personnel 

(b) Other related parties 

Value
$

 

10,000

The Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited have not accepted the Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited's Community 
Bank Directors Privileges package. The package is available to all Directors who can elect to avail themselves of the benefits 
based on their personal banking with the branch. 

Key management personnel includes any person having authority or responsibility for planning, directing or controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of that company.

No remuneration was paid to key management personnel of the company during the year.

(b) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with profit after income tax

Other related parties include close family members of key management personnel and entities that are controlled or jointly 
controlled by those key management personnel, individually or collectively with their close family members. 

Other than detailed below, no key management personnel or related party has entered into any contracts with the company. No 
Director fees have been paid as the positions are held on a voluntary basis. 

During the year, the company purchased goods and services under normal terms and conditions, from related parties as follows:

Name of related party Description of goods / services provided

John Spencer Waters (Grange Risk Pty Ltd) Administration Fee
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

21. Key management personnel and related party disclosures (continued)

(d) Key management personnel shareholdings

2020 2019
John Spencer Waters -  Chairman - -
Deborah Jayne Weber - -
Karel Leslie Coxhill 51,435 51,435
Peter Gordon Marke (Resigned 22/11/2018) - 112,255
John Ronald Faull - -
Shane Andrew Miller - -
Leslie Thomas Stevenson 5,000 5,000
Jacqueline Nicole Buckland - -

56,435 168,690

(e) Other key management transactions 

There has been no other transactions key management or related parties other than those described above. 

22. Community Enterprise FoundationTM

2020 2019
$ $
20,126 19,728

275,000
(280,000)

416 398
-

(12,499) -
3,043 20,126

23. Events after the reporting period

24. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

There were no contingent liabilities or assets at the date of this report to affect the financial statements.

25. Operating segments

The company operates in the financial services sector where it provides banking services to its clients. The company operates in 
three area being Upwey, Belgrave and Cockatoo, VIC. The company has a franchise agreement in place with Bendigo and 
Adelaide Bank Limited who account for 96% of the revenue (2019: 98%).

The number of ordinary shares in Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited held by each key management personnel of 
the company during the financial year is as follows:

The Community Enterprise FoundationTM (CEF) is the philanthropic arm of the Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Group to which 
Community Bank branches can make financial contributions. These contributions made by the company are included in the 
charitable donations and sponsorship expenditure in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.
During the current financial year, the company contributed funds to the Community Enterprise FoundationTM (CEF), as detailed 
below. These funds are held in trust by the CEF on behalf of the company and are available for distribution by grants to eligible 
applicants. 

Opening Balance
Contributions
Grants Paid

Management fees
Balance available for distribution in future periods

Interest 
GST

There was no movement in key management personnel shareholdings during the year. Each share held has a paid up value of $1 
and is fully paid.

There have been no events after the end of the financial year that would materially affect the financial statements.
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Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

20. Statement of cash flows
2020 2019

$ $

(a) Cash and cash equivalents balances as shown in the Statement of Financial Position can be reconciled 
to that shown in the Statement of Cash Flows as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) 2,478,961 2,442,389
As per the Statement of Cash Flow 2,478,961 2,442,389

Profit for the year after income tax 351,953 504,949

Non-cash flows in profit
 - Depreciation and amortisation 98,358 86,852
 - Bad debts 3,069 -
 - Net loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 4,621 1,823
 - Tax on revaluation of land & buildings (111,398)

Changes in assets and liabilities
 - (Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables 19,675 (16,034)
 - (increase) / decrease in prepayments and other assets 2,782 (8,084)
 - (Increase) / decrease in deferred tax asset 130,566 (7,200)
 - Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables 1,331 (25,959)
 - Increase / (decrease) in current tax liability (146,945) 100,444
 - Increase / (decrease) in provisions 12,463 29,463
Net cash flows from operating activities 366,475 666,254

21. Key management personnel and related party disclosures

(a) Key management personnel 

(b) Other related parties 

Value
$

 

10,000

The Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited have not accepted the Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited's Community 
Bank Directors Privileges package. The package is available to all Directors who can elect to avail themselves of the benefits 
based on their personal banking with the branch. 

Key management personnel includes any person having authority or responsibility for planning, directing or controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of that company.

No remuneration was paid to key management personnel of the company during the year.

(b) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with profit after income tax

Other related parties include close family members of key management personnel and entities that are controlled or jointly 
controlled by those key management personnel, individually or collectively with their close family members. 

Other than detailed below, no key management personnel or related party has entered into any contracts with the company. No 
Director fees have been paid as the positions are held on a voluntary basis. 

During the year, the company purchased goods and services under normal terms and conditions, from related parties as follows:

Name of related party Description of goods / services provided

John Spencer Waters (Grange Risk Pty Ltd) Administration Fee
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

21. Key management personnel and related party disclosures (continued)

(d) Key management personnel shareholdings

2020 2019
John Spencer Waters -  Chairman - -
Deborah Jayne Weber - -
Karel Leslie Coxhill 51,435 51,435
Peter Gordon Marke (Resigned 22/11/2018) - 112,255
John Ronald Faull - -
Shane Andrew Miller - -
Leslie Thomas Stevenson 5,000 5,000
Jacqueline Nicole Buckland - -

56,435 168,690

(e) Other key management transactions 

There has been no other transactions key management or related parties other than those described above. 

22. Community Enterprise FoundationTM

2020 2019
$ $
20,126 19,728

275,000
(280,000)

416 398
-

(12,499) -
3,043 20,126

23. Events after the reporting period

24. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

There were no contingent liabilities or assets at the date of this report to affect the financial statements.

25. Operating segments

The company operates in the financial services sector where it provides banking services to its clients. The company operates in 
three area being Upwey, Belgrave and Cockatoo, VIC. The company has a franchise agreement in place with Bendigo and 
Adelaide Bank Limited who account for 96% of the revenue (2019: 98%).

The number of ordinary shares in Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited held by each key management personnel of 
the company during the financial year is as follows:

The Community Enterprise FoundationTM (CEF) is the philanthropic arm of the Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Group to which 
Community Bank branches can make financial contributions. These contributions made by the company are included in the 
charitable donations and sponsorship expenditure in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.
During the current financial year, the company contributed funds to the Community Enterprise FoundationTM (CEF), as detailed 
below. These funds are held in trust by the CEF on behalf of the company and are available for distribution by grants to eligible 
applicants. 

Opening Balance
Contributions
Grants Paid

Management fees
Balance available for distribution in future periods

Interest 
GST

There was no movement in key management personnel shareholdings during the year. Each share held has a paid up value of $1 
and is fully paid.

There have been no events after the end of the financial year that would materially affect the financial statements.
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Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

26. Commitments

(a) Operating lease commitments
2020 2019

$ $
Payable:

- no later than 12 months - 44,971
- between 12 months and five years - -
- greater than five years - -

Minimum lease payments - 44,971

27. Company details 

Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the Statement of Financial Position. 
The property lease is non-cancellable lease with a 5 - 15 year term, with rent payable monthly in advance and with CPI increase 
each year.

The registered office and principle place of business is 30 Main Street, UPWEY, VIC, 3158
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020

34

-
-
-
-



Annual Report Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited 39

Notes to the financial statements (continued)Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited
ABN 28 084 480 035

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020

28. Financial instrument risk

Financial risk management policies 

Specific financial risk exposure and management 

2020 2019
Note $ $

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost:
- Cash and cash equivalents 5 2,478,961 2,442,389
- Trade and other receivables 6 244,923 267,667
- Financial assets 7 521,892 511,047

3,245,776 3,221,103
Total financial assets 3,245,776 3,221,103

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
- Trade and other payables 12 267,426 118,929
- Lease Liabilities 13 264,056 -
Total financial liabilities 531,482 118,929

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk exposures

The company has significant concentrations of credit risk with Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited. The company's exposure to credit 
risk is limited to Australia by geographic area. 

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be of high credit quality. Aggregates of such 
amounts are detailed at Note 6.

The company limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities with Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited and 
therefore credit risk is considered minimal.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The Board has 
established an Audit Committee which reports regularly to the Board. The Audit Committee is assisted in the area of risk management 
by an internal audit function. 

The main risks the company is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk consisting of 
interest rate risk and other price risk. There have been no substantial changes in the types of risks the company is exposed to, how the 
risks arise, or the Board's objectives, policies and processes for managing or measuring the risks from the previous period.  

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by counterparties of contract obligations 
that could lead to a financial loss to the company. 

Credit risk is managed through maintaining procedures ensuring, to the extent possible, that clients and counterparties to transactions 
are of sound credit worthiness. Such monitoring is used in assessing receivables for impairment. Credit terms for normal fee income 
are generally 30 days from the date of invoice. For fees with longer settlements, terms are specified in the individual client contracts. In 
the case of loans advanced, the terms are specific to each loan. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the reporting period is equivalent to the 
carrying amount and classification of those financial assets as presented in the table above. 

The company's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, short term investments, account receivables and payables, 
bank overdraft and loans. The totals for each category of financial instruments measured in accordance with AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments as detailed in the accounting policies are as follows: 
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28. Financial instrument risk (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis:

Within  1 to Over
30 June 2020 Total 1 year 5 years 5 years

% $ $ $ $
Financial assets
- Cash and cash equivalents 0.73% 2,478,961 2,478,961 - -
- Trade and other receivables 244,923 244,923 - -
- Financial assets 1.35% 521,892 521,892 - -
Total anticipated inflows 6,491,552 3,245,776 - -

Financial liabilities
- Trade and other payables 267,426 267,426 - -
- Lease Liabilities 264,056 26,703 237,353
Total expected outflows 531,482 294,129 237,353 -

Net inflow / (outflow) on financial instruments 5,960,070 2,951,647 (237,353) -

Within  1 to Over
30 June 2019 Total 1 year 5 years 5 years

% $ $ $ $
Financial assets
- Cash and cash equivalents 1.72% 2,442,389 2,442,389 - -
- Trade and other receivables 267,667 267,667 - -
- Financial assets 2.40% 511,047 511,047 - -
Total anticipated inflows 3,221,103 3,221,103 - -

Financial liabilities
- Trade and other payables 118,929 118,929 - -
- Lease Liabilities - - - -
Total expected outflows 118,929 118,929 - -

Net inflow / (outflow) on financial instruments 3,102,174 3,102,174 - -
 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate

Weighted 
average 

interest rate

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company ensures it will 
have enough liquidity to meet its liabilities when due under both normal and stressed conditions. Liquidity management is carried out 
within the guidelines set by the Board.

Typically, the company maintains sufficient cash on hand to meet expected operational expenses, including the servicing of financial 
obligations. This excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural 
disasters.

Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management's expectation as to the timing of realisation. Actual timing may therefore 
differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows presented in the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual 
settlement dates and does not reflect management's expectations that banking facilities will be rolled forward. 
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28. Financial instrument risk (continued)

(c) Market risk

Interest rate risk

 - A parallel shift of +/- 1%  in market interest rates from year-end rates.

Sensitivity analysis

Profit Equity Profit Equity 
$ $ $ $

+/- 1% in interest rates (interest income) 24,790 24,790 24,424          24,424          
24,790          24,790          24,424          24,424          

There have been no changes in any of the methods or assumptions used to prepare the above sensitivity analysis from the prior year.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, will affect the company's income or the value of its holdings 
of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters.

Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of the reporting period whereby a 
future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of fixed rate financial instruments. 

The financial instruments that primarily expose the company to interest rate risk are fixed interest securities, and cash and cash 
equivalents.

The following table illustrates sensitivities to the company's exposures to changes in interest rates and equity prices. The table 
indicates the impact on how profit and equity values reported at the end of the reporting period would have been affected by changes in 
the relevant risk variable that management considers to be reasonably possible. 

2020 2019

These sensitivities assume that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other variables. 

The primary risks the company is exposed to is interest rate risk and other price risk. The company has no exposure to fluctuations in 
foreign currency. 

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge and experience of the 
financial markets,  management believes the following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the next 12 months:

These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of the company's financial assets and liabilities, nor will they have a 
material impact on the results of the company's operations.
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29. Fair value measurements 

- freehold land and buildings
- listed investments

The company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis.

(a) Fair value hierarchy

The company measures and recognises the following assets at fair value on a recurring basis after initial recognition:

AASB 13: Fair value measurement  requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, which 
categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels based on the lowest level that an input that is significant 
to the measurement can be categorised into as follows:

Fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. If all significant 
inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant 
inputs are not based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 

The company may measure some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring basis, 
depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard.

Fair value is the price the Company would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an orderly (i.e. 
unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at the measurement date.

As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used to determine fair 
value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the specific asset or liability. The fair 
value of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation techniques. 
These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data.

To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset or liability (i.e. the market 
with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability) or, in the absence of such a market, the most 
advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the reporting period (i.e. the market that maximises the receipts from 
the sale of the asset or minimises the payments made to transfer the liability, after taking into account transaction costs and 
transport costs).

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant's ability to use the asset in its 
highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

Level 1 - Measurements based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date.
Level 2 - Measurements based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 - Measurements based on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
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29. Fair value measurements (continued) 

(a) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$ $ $ $

Recurring fair value measurements
Non-financial assets

Freehold land Buildings - 541,991 - 541,991
- 541,991 - 541,991

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$ $ $ $

Recurring fair value measurements
Non-financial assets

Freehold land Buildings - - - -
- - - -

(b) Valuation techniques

- 

- 

- 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would use when pricing the asset 
or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation technique, the company gives priority to those 
techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed 
using market data (such as publicly available information on actual transactions) and reflect the assumptions that buyers and 
sellers would generally use when pricing the asset or liability are considered observable, whereas inputs for which market data 
is not available and therefore are developed using the best information available about such assumptions are considered 
unobservable.

There were no transfers between Levels for assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis during the reporting period 
(2019: no transfers).

The company selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to 
measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily depends on the specific characteristics of the asset 
or liability being measured. The valuation techniques selected by the company are consistent with one or more of the following 
valuation approaches:

Market approach:  valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions 
for identical or similar assets or liabilities.
Income approach:  valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or income and expenses into a single 
discounted present value.

30 June 2020

Total non-financial assets recognised at fair value

Cost approach:  valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an asset at its current service 
capacity.

30 June 2019

Total non-financial assets recognised at fair value

The following tables provide the fair values of the company's assets and liabilities measured and recognised on a recurring 
basis after initial recognition and their categorisation within the fair value hierarchy:
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29. Fair value measurements (continued) 

Valuation techniques and inputs used to measure Level 2 fair values

Fair value at 30 
June 2020

$
            541,991 

(c) Reconciliation of recurring Level 2 Fair value measurements

Level 2

Freehold land 
Buildings

$
Balance at the beginning of the year 420,155
Additions during the year -
Gains/(losses) recognised in equity during the year 405,082
Settlements during the year -
Balance at the end of the year 825,237

Inputs used
Market Rent, Capital Adjustments

Description
 Land & Buildings - 30-
32 Main Street Upwey 

Description of valuation 
techniques
Market approach

The fair value of freehold land and buildings is determined at least every three years based on valuations by an independent 
valuer. At the end of each intervening period, the Directors review the independent valuation and, when appropriate, update 
the fair value measurement to reflect current market conditions using a range of valuation techniques, including recent 
observable market data and discounted cash flow methodologies.

There were no changes during the period in the valuation techniques used by the company to determine Level 2 fair values.
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In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Dandenong Ranges Community Finance Limited, the Directors of the company declare 
that:         

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 10 to 45 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:  

(i) comply with Australian Accounting Standards which, as stated in accounting policy Note 1 to the financial statements, constitutes 
compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and  

(ii) give a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of the performance for the year ended on that 
date; 

2. In the Directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

This resolution is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.  

Signed at Upwey on 07 September 2020.        

Directors’ declaration
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